



U.S. GLOBAL HEALTH POLICY

INNOVATIVE FINANCING MECHANISMS FOR GLOBAL HEALTH:
OVERVIEW & CONSIDERATIONS FOR U.S. GOVERNMENT PARTICIPATION

October 2011





U.S. GLOBAL HEALTH POLICY

INNOVATIVE FINANCING MECHANISMS FOR GLOBAL HEALTH: OVERVIEW & CONSIDERATIONS FOR U.S. GOVERNMENT PARTICIPATION

October 2011

Josh Michaud and Jen Kates

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge the contributions of the following individuals, who provided helpful comments and suggestions during the drafting of the report: Robert Hecht, Jean Arkedis, Amrita Palriwala, and Aarthi Rao from Results for Development, Eric Leif from the Stimson Center, Ben Leo from the Center for Global Development, and Wendy Taylor from the U.S. Agency for International Development. We also thank staff at the Department of Treasury and the Office of Science and Technology Policy for their assistance and comments during earlier phases of report preparation.

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	4
DEFINING INNOVATIVE FINANCING	
Mechanism Categories	5
Types of Public/Private Involvement	
METHODOLOGY	7
FINDINGS	9
Mechanisms by Classification and Key Characteristics	9
U.S. Government Participation	11
POLICY CONSIDERATIONS FOR U.S. ENGAGEMENT	14
Mechanisms With Current Engagement	14
Mechanisms With Potential Engagement	14
Common Policy Barriers	14
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	16
APPENDIX. INNOVATIVE FINANCING MECHANISMS FOR GLOBAL HEALTH: By Category, with	
Descriptions, Key Characteristics and Background Information	18
REFERENCES	23

INTRODUCTION

Global health is entering a time of funding uncertainty. While the previous decade saw significant increases in support for global health programs, many are concerned that funding from donor governments, private aid organizations, and foundations – the traditional sources of assistance for global health – may not grow further or may even decline in the aftermath of an international financial crisis and mounting efforts to control public expenditures and debt. In addition, advocates see ongoing missed opportunities in advancing global health-relevant technologies (including drugs, vaccines and diagnostics) due to a reliance on financing mechanisms that do not necessarily provide enough research and development-related incentives for addressing the health concerns of low- and middle-income countries. Therefore, in order for global health programs to maintain and expand their impact in the coming years, there is increasing interest in identifying ways to supplement traditional sources of health assistance, and adopting new methods of financing global health programs, research, and development to complement existing approaches. The issue has been placed on the agenda at the upcoming Group of Twenty (G-20) Summit in France later this year, with Bill Gates scheduled to deliver a report to G-20 leaders addressing financing for development.

For these reasons, there is growing attention to "innovative financing mechanisms," a broad category of novel approaches to raising and spending funds for global health. While exact definitions of innovative financing may differ, a key dimension of such mechanisms is that they have the potential to supplement and expand on the impact of existing and traditional channels of health assistance by tapping into new resources or squeezing out more impact from the resources that are available. As such, many see innovative financing mechanisms as tools that could help to bridge some of the global health financing and technological innovation gaps experienced by low- and middle-income countries.

While the U.S. government has been at the forefront of designing and implementing some innovative financing mechanisms, it has been less likely to embrace others. The Obama Administration has championed innovation for development, emphasizing the positive impacts that new approaches and technologies can have on global health and other areas of development. For example, "innovating for results" has been included as one of the four key implementation components of the Global Health Initiative (GHI), the Administration's six-year, proposed \$63 billion effort to implement a comprehensive global health strategy, 10 and support for "game-changing innovations" was named an agency priority by the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID).¹¹ At the same time, a number of existing innovative financing mechanisms do not have the support of the U.S. government for reasons that range from concerns about their cost-effectiveness and perceived feasibility, to policy and legal challenges posed by a need for making upfront, multi-year funding obligations, changes in tax law, or other issues. So, while U.S. interest in innovative approaches to global health may be growing, it is unclear whether or how this momentum will translate into increased support for innovative financing mechanisms, especially in light of important policy and legal issues raised by some of them and the potential tradeoffs that may be involved. For example, the innovative financing mechanism currently attracting the most support from European governments and others in the lead up to the G-20 is the Financial Transaction Tax, a mechanism the U.S. does not support. 12

To help assess these issues, this paper first defines, and provides a classification system for, different types of innovative financing mechanisms for global health. It next presents an inventory of innovative financing mechanisms that are currently in use or proposed and examines the status of U.S. government participation in these mechanisms. Finally, it explores potential policy barriers and opportunities for further U.S. government engagement.

DEFINING INNOVATIVE FINANCING

The concept of innovative financing is complex, with no single, widely accepted definition currently in use. Rather, multiple definitions have been proposed over time ranging in how expansively the concept is defined, the categories of mechanisms included, and other factors (see Box 1). example, some definitions are relatively narrow in scope, focusing only on those mechanisms which tap into new revenue sources, while others include a broader set of mechanisms, reaching beyond the generation of new revenue sources to encompass tools intended to stimulate research and development (R&D) or those designed to make more efficient and effective use of existing funds. 13,14,15,16,17 Furthermore, some definitions focus on global health specifically, while others apply the term more broadly to include new financing approaches for climate change. education, and other areas of international development in addition to global health.

Despite the lack of a single definition, several common elements run through these multiple concepts of innovative financing. For example, innovative financing mechanisms are typically

BOX 1. DEFINITIONS OF "INNOVATIVE FINANCING"

The term "innovative financing" has been defined in different ways by different organizations. Three prior definitions for the term are:

- "[A]ny financing approach that helps to generate additional development funds...enhance the efficiency of financial flows...[or] make financial flows more results-oriented."
 - -The World Bank¹³
- "[N]ew sources of development financing [that] are closely linked to global public goods, and complement conventional official development assistance."
 - -The Leading Group on Innovative Financing for Development¹⁴
- "[N]on-traditional applications of overseas development assistance, joint public-private, or private mechanisms and flows that 1) support fund-raising by tapping new sources..., or 2) deliver financial solutions to development problems on the ground."
 - -The High Level Taskforce on Innovative Financing for Health Systems¹⁵

presented in contrast to "traditional" mechanisms for raising and delivering aid. "Traditional" mechanisms for global health financing include direct bilateral and multilateral assistance provided by government donors, or funds channeled through private philanthropy; innovative approaches to funding attempt to raise funds from other sources or catalyze financing in unique, non-traditional ways. Likewise, "traditional" methods of financing innovation and R&D for global health rely on private industry investments subject to existing, standard market incentives or governmental research grants, while innovative approaches might attempt to shift market incentives toward greater investment in global health R&D or stimulate public-private research partnerships. In this way, innovative financing mechanisms are meant to add value by raising additional funds and/or make existing funds go farther. They are meant to be complementary to existing, traditional approaches, but are not designed to displace or replace them.

MECHANISM CATEGORIES

For the purpose of this paper, we build upon prior definitions to identify three main categories of innovative financing mechanisms for global health. These are described below, and are contrasted with more "traditional" financing mechanisms. These categories are further divided into sub-categories based on their approach, as listed in Box 2 and described in Methodology.

Novel funding mechanisms¹⁸ – Traditional sources of funding for global health programs are bilateral
or multilateral official development assistance (ODA) given by donor governments, and private
donations made through foundations and charities. In contrast, novel funding mechanisms are

those that aim to tap into or free up new funds beyond these traditional channels or to make more aid more "economically efficient" (e.g., by making it more rapidly available). Examples of novel funding mechanisms include: the use of bonds to "front-load" funding, implementation of new tax schemes to raise additional funding for global health, debt relief channeled to global health, and loan guarantees or risk pooling vehicles that seek to catalyze private investments in health projects in developing countries.

- Mechanisms to stimulate innovation, research, and development (R&D)¹⁹ Traditionally, financial support for innovation, research, and product development for global health issues has relied on public research grants (e.g., funding provided to researchers and innovators by government agencies like the U.S. National Institutes of Health or the U.S. Agency for International Development) and standard market incentives for private-sector investment (e.g., private pharmaceutical companies pursuing R&D projects based on expected market potential). Research grants can be considered a source of "push" funding that drives innovations through the R&D pipeline, while the incentives provided by future market sales can be considered a source of "pull" financing for R&D. By contrast, innovative mechanisms in this category use novel "push" and "pull" strategies to accelerate or scale-up the development and production of innovations and technologies relevant to global health (such as medicines, vaccines, and diagnostics), as well stimulate greater distribution and better access to them. They are intended to go beyond what traditional grant or market incentive mechanisms can do for example, by serving to alter standard market incentives (e.g., through increasing the incentives to invest in R&D) or providing public research funding in non-traditional ways (e.g., through tax credits, prizes, or based on the health impact of innovations).
- Mechanisms incentivizing performance and/or results²⁰ Traditionally, donors have provided global health aid by paying for inputs (e.g., the infrastructure, training, commodities, and supplies needed to implement health programs), using funding that is not explicitly conditional on subsequent program performance nor on the ultimate impact on health. Innovative mechanisms in this category, by contrast, aim to provide funding that is conditional on performance or results in order to improve outcomes and impacts. They aim to alter incentives faced by recipient governments and organizations, or individual beneficiaries, in such a way as to improve performance, achieve better results, or to have individuals adopt healthier behaviors compared with traditional input-based, non-conditional financing approaches. Examples of performance or results-based mechanisms include aid that is contingent on explicit criteria (i.e., recipients must meet certain quality or other benchmarks to merit consideration for assistance) or aid distributed according to measurable health outcomes or impacts rather than health inputs.

TYPES OF PUBLIC/PRIVATE INVOLVEMENT

Innovative financing mechanisms may also be characterized according to level of public and private sector involvement; depending on their construct and approach, mechanisms may be classified as belonging to one of the following three types: "Public," "Private," or "Mixed" mechanisms.

"Public" mechanisms are those that require governmental involvement to be implemented. Examples of "Public" mechanisms include those requiring changes to tax policy (such as a Financial Transactions Tax), or in regulations or legislation (such as the U.S. Federal Drug Administration's Priority Review Voucher). "Private" mechanisms are those that do not require governmental support or involvement to function, such as voluntary consumer-based contribution programs and Impact Investing. "Mixed" mechanisms feature combined public and private sector involvement, although the role of the public sector across these mechanisms can vary. Examples of "Mixed" mechanisms include those that use public funds to

back credit guarantees or finance risk pooling to catalyze private investments, or an Advance Market Commitment backed by public funds that are used to stimulate private research, development, or distribution of health technologies.

METHODOLOGY

To identify innovative financing mechanisms for global health for this analysis, we conducted a literature review and interviewed key experts. Our review encompassed both mechanisms that are currently operational (defined as those that are functioning in at least one country, even if only in a pilot or trial phase) and those that remain proposals yet to be implemented. Not all mechanisms identified were included in the final list; to make determinations about which mechanisms to exclude or include we considered the following factors: the complementarity/additionality of each mechanism to traditional aid approaches, the actual or potential relevance of each mechanism to global health (as opposed to other development objectives), and the attention given to the mechanism in the literature and by experts. As such, the list of mechanisms is meant to be representative, but not entirely exhaustive of all innovative financing options available.

After determining the final list, we placed each mechanism into one of the three mechanism categories outlined above. When a given mechanism spanned more than one category, we assigned it to the category we considered most directly captured its primary approach and purpose. Within each category, we further sub-categorized the list of mechanisms by type of approach, identifying five sub-categories of novel funding mechanisms, two sub-categories among mechanisms that stimulate innovation/R&D mechanisms, and two sub-categories among those that incentivize performance and results (see Box 2.)

BOX 2. Classification Scheme for Innovative Financing Mechanisms for Global Health

Novel funding mechanisms

- Sub-categories:
 - Directing private investment, catalyzing private investments in health
 - Consumer-based funding, tapping into voluntary contributions from consumers
 - Front-loading funds, leveraging long-term pledges of assistance to generate funding in the short-term
 - Re-directing credits or debts, leveraging credits and debts for financing
 - New taxes or levies, new funds generated by applying taxes to select transactions

Mechanisms to stimulate innovation, research & development (R&D)

- Sub-categories:
 - "Push" mechanisms, financing or other incentives provided to innovators up front, which reduce risks or costs of R&D
 - "Pull" mechanisms, financial rewards or other incentives provided to innovators for progress or completion of research, development, or scale-up of production, which enhance market opportunities

Mechanisms incentivizing performance/results

- Sub-categories:
 - Supply side, meant to incentivize governments and health care providers
 - Demand side, meant to incentivize patients/clients of health care system

Each mechanism was selected based on its representation of an innovative financing approach, and any given mechanism may have more than one implementation example. For instance, there are multiple organizations that support a risk pooling or credit guarantee approach to catalyzing private investments, including the U.S. Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC), USAID's Development Credit Authority (DCA), the Pledge Guarantee for Health (PGH), and the World Bank's Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA). Rather than list these each of these instruments individually, they are included under the common umbrella of "Risk Pooling/Credit Guarantees" (within the sub-category of "directing private investments," under the category of novel financing mechanisms). Similarly, there are multiple examples of "Results-Based Aid" approaches (within the sub-category "supply side results-based mechanisms" under the category mechanism incentivizing performance/results), from the benchmark eligibility restrictions placed on Compact funding provided through the Millennium Challenge Corporation to Global Fund grant continuations that are contingent on meeting minimum performance levels.

FINDINGS

Findings are presented in two parts. First, the characteristics of the mechanisms are summarized and described. Then, the nature of U.S. engagement with the mechanisms is summarized and discussed.

MECHANISMS BY CLASSIFICATION AND KEY CHARACTERISTICS

In all, 31 innovative financing mechanisms for global health across the three main categories were identified for inclusion. Table 1 summarizes the counts of mechanisms by category and sub-category, while Table 2 lists each of the mechanisms, its type of public/private involvement, and operational status. Additional details and further descriptions of each of the mechanisms are presented in the attached Appendix tables.

TABLE 1. INNOVATIVE FINANCING MECHANISMS Counts By Category and Sub-category	FOR GLOBAL HEALTH:
Mechanisms by Category and Sub-Category	#
Novel financing mechanisms	14
Directing private investment	3
Voluntary consumer-based funding	3
Front-loading funds	1
Re-directing credits or debts	4
New taxes or levies	3
Mechanisms to stimulate innovation, R&D	12
"Push" mechanisms	5
"Pull" mechanisms	7
Mechanisms incentivizing performance/results	5
Supply side	3
Demand side	2
TOTAL NUMBER OF MECHANISMS	31

As Table 1 shows, the 31 mechanisms were comprised of 14 novel financing mechanisms, 12 mechanisms to stimulate innovation, R&D, and 5 mechanisms incentivizing performance/results.

As Table 2 shows, twelve mechanisms were characterized as "Public," fourteen were "Mixed," public-private efforts, and five were characterized strictly as "Private" (see Table 1). All five of the "Private" mechanisms were in the *novel financing* category; this category

also had six "Public" and three "Mixed" mechanisms (see Table 2). Among the 12 *mechanisms to stimulate innovation, R&D*, half were "Public" and half "Mixed." Finally, among the 5 *mechanisms incentivizing performance/results*, one was "Public" and four "Mixed."

Twenty-one of the mechanisms are currently operational, while 10 remain at the proposal stage. Those that are operational are: 10 of the 14 novel funding mechanisms, 7 of the 12 innovation and R&D mechanisms, and 4 of the 5 incentivizing results/performance mechanisms (see Table 2).

Although not a focus of this report, estimates of the potential for these innovative financing mechanisms to generate additional revenue, or leverage existing funding streams to make them go further, range significantly (see Appendix).

Mechanism Category		
Mechanism subcategory	Type of Public/Private	
Mechanism Name	Involvement	Status
Novel financing mechanisms		
Directing private investment		
Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs)	Private	Operational
Impact Investing	Private	Operational
Risk Pooling/Credit Guarantees	Mixed	Operational
Voluntary consumer-based funding	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Mobile Phone Solidarity Contribution	Private	Operational
Consumer Product-Based Contribution	Private	Operational
Travel Purchase Solidarity Contribution	Private	Operational
Front-loading funds	No.	0
International Finance Facility (IFF)	Mixed	Operational
Re-directing credits or debts Buy-downs	Mivod	Operational
Debt Forgiveness for Health	Mixed Public	Operational Operational
Debt Forgiveness for Health De-tax	Public	Proposed
IMF ¹ Gold Sales/Special Drawing Rights	Public	Proposed
New taxes or levies	1 abiic	торозец
Airline Ticket Tax	Public	Operational
Financial Transaction Tax (FTT)	Public	Proposed
Tobacco Solidarity Tax	Public	Proposed
Mechanisms to stimulate innovation, R&D		
"Push" mechanisms		
Patent Fees/"Green Intellectual Property"	Public	Proposed
Patent Pools	Mixed	Operational
Pooled Funding	Mixed	Proposed
Product Development Partnerships (PDPs)	Mixed	Operational
R&D Tax Credits	Public	Operational
"Pull" mechanisms		
Advance Market Commitment (AMC)	Mixed	Operational
Medicines Subsidy	Mixed	Operational
Health Impact Fund	Public	Proposed
Milestone R&D Incentives	Mixed	Proposed
Priority Review Voucher	Public	Operational
End-Product Prizes	Mixed	Operational
Patent Review Voucher	Public	Proposed
Mechanisms incentivizing performance/results		
Supply side results-based mechanisms		
Cash-on-Delivery (COD) Aid	Public	Proposed
Performance-Based Financing (PBF)	Mixed	Operational
Results-Based Aid (RBA)	Mixed	Operational
Demand side results-based mechanisms	Mixed	000
Conditional Cash Transfers (CCT) Vouchers	Mixed Mixed	Operational
voucieis		Operational
Summary	Total number of mechanisms: 31	
Machanisms by Type of Bublis / Brights Involvement		
Mechanisms by Type of Public/Private Involvement	<u>Count</u>	
Public	12	
Private	5	
Mixed	14	
Markani ku Chakan		
Mechanisms by Status	<u>Count</u>	
Operational	21	
Proposal	10	

¹IMF = International Monetary Fund.

U.S. GOVERNMENT PARTICIPATION

"Public" The and "Mixed" mechanisms were examined to whether assess the U.S. government is engaged with them either as a funder or ("Private" implementer mechanisms do not require government involvement function and therefore excluded from this portion of the analysis). This examination focused on those mechanisms that are currently operational, though implications of these findings for proposed mechanisms were considered, and are discussed below. Findings are summarized in Tables 3 and 4.

The findings show the U.S. government has demonstrated a greater willingness to engage with mechanisms that have private sector elements, such as the "Mixed" mechanisms of Risk Pooling/Credit Guarantees and Product Development Partnerships, but has been less likely to engage with purely "Public" mechanisms, especially those requiring legislative or regulatory changes leading to tax increases (such as a Financial Transaction Tax) or up-front, multi-year financial obligations (such as an International Finance Facility).

Among the 26 "Public" or "Mixed" mechanisms, 16 are operational, and of these, the U.S. government currently participates in or implements 9 (see Table 4). U.S. support was

Mechanism Category	
Mechanism subcategory	Engagement/ Participation
Mechanism Name	from U.S. Government
Novel financing mechanisms	
Directing private investment	
Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs)	N/A ¹
Impact Investing	N/A ¹
Risk Pooling/Credit Guarantees	Yes
Voluntary consumer-based funding	
Mobile Phone Solidarity Contribution	N/A ¹
Consumer Product-Based Contribution	N/A ¹
Travel Purchase Solidarity Contribution	N/A ¹
Front-loading funds	·
International Finance Facility (IFF)	No
Re-directing credits or debts	
Buy-downs	Yes
Debt Forgiveness for Health	No
De-tax	N/A ²
IMF ³ Gold Sales/Special Drawing Rights	N/A ⁴
New taxes or levies	
Airline Ticket Tax	No
Financial Transaction Tax (FTT)	No
Tobacco Solidarity Tax	No
Mechanisms to stimulate innovation, R&D	
"Push" mechanisms	
Patent Fees/"Green Intellectual Property"	No
Patent Pools	Yes
Pooled Funding	No
Product Development Partnerships (PDPs)	Yes
R&D Tax Credits	No ⁶
"Pull" mechanisms	
Advance Market Commitment (AMC) ⁵	No
Medicines Subsidy ⁵	No
Health Impact Fund	No
Milestone R&D Incentives	No
Priority Review Voucher	Yes
End-Product Prizes	No ⁷
Patent Review Voucher	Yes
Mechanisms incentivizing performance/results	
Supply side results-based mechanisms	
Cash-on-Delivery (COD) Aid	No
Performance-Based Financing (PBF)	Yes
Results-Based Aid (RBA)	Yes
Demand side results-based mechanisms	
Conditional Cash Transfers (CCT)	Yes
Vouchers	Yes

¹ Public or Mixed mechanisms only, not applicable (N/A) for Private mechanisms.

 $^{^{2}}$ De-Tax only applicable where value-added tax (VAT)-based tax system is used; U.S. does not have a VAT-based tax system.

³IMF = International Monetary Fund.

⁴ IMF Gold Sales and Special Drawing Rights listed as N/A due to multilateral nature of IMF governance; the U.S. share of IMF Executive Board vote is 16.76%.

⁵AMC (the current pneumococcal vaccine AMC) and Medicines Subsidy (the current Affordable Medicines Facility-malaria, AMFm) are considered "pull" mechanisms because they are designed to increase the uptake of vaccines and malaria medicines, respectively; see Methods.

⁶ The US has supported R&D tax credits in some cases (e.g. "orphan drugs", bioterrorism), but no such credits have supported for R&D for developing country-specific health issues.
⁷ The America COMPETES Act (H.R. 5116) gives agencies authority to use prizes for innovation, but no global health-related prizes have been supported to date.

more common among the "Mixed" mechanisms compared to "Public" ones: eight of the 12 operational "Mixed" mechanisms are currently implemented or supported (the exceptions are the International Finance Facility, the Advance Market Commitment, the Medicines Subsidy, and End-Product Prizes), while only one of the four "Public" mechanisms is supported or implemented by the U.S. (the Priority Review Voucher, a U.S. government initiative, is the exception).

echanisms by Key Characteristics	#
Public	12
Operational	4
Of which, supported by U.S. Government	1
Proposed	8
Of which, supported by U.S. Government	0*
Mixed	14
Operational	12
Of which, supported by U.S. Government	8
Proposed	2
Of which, supported by U.S. Government	0
Total Number of Public and Mixed Mechanisms	26
Of which, supported by U.S. Government	10

As noted above, the U.S. government has shown a greater tendency to engage with "Mixed" mechanisms over purely "Public" ones. Table 5 lists the mechanisms that already have some level of U.S. government support and includes illustrative examples of U.S. engagement.

Looking at those mechanisms in the proposal stage, if a similar pattern held U.S. involvement might favor those mechanisms that avoid new taxes or up-front multi-year financial obligations. Of the 10 "Public" or "Mixed" mechanisms that remain and are in the proposal stage, four are tax-based: one (the De-tax) requires a Value-Added Tax (VAT) system; the U.S. does not have a VAT-based tax system. Three others (the Financial Transaction Tax, Tobacco Solidarity Tax, and Patent Fees/"Green Intellectual Property") derive funds through imposing taxes or fees.

Three other proposed *mechanisms to stimulate innovation, R&D* (Pooled Funding, Milestone-based Funding, and Health Impact Fund) have some similarities to operational mechanisms that the U.S. already supports (such as "Product Development Partnerships" and "Patent Pools"), though specific concerns with each of these proposals – from their cost-effectiveness to political and financial feasibility – would have to be considered prior to any decisions to support them. Another proposed *innovation, R&D mechanism* – Patent Review Vouchers – was originally proposed by the government and therefore has some level of support already.²¹

ategory		
Sub-category	Public or	
Mechanism	Mixed	Examples of U.S. Government Engagement
Novel financing mechanisms		
Re-directing credits or debits		
Risk Pooling/Credit Guarantees	Mixed	The U.S. Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC) provided \$2.4B of financing and insurance and USAID's Development Credit Authority (DCA) provided approximately \$500M in loan guarantees in 2010, though in both case only a small proportion were in support of health-related projects. ^{22,23}
Buy-downs	Mixed	The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) has participated in a multi-party buy-down of credit to Nigeria linked to achievement of polio vaccination targets. ^{24,25}
Mechanisms to stimulate innov	ation, R&D	
"Push" mechanisms		
Patent Pools	Mixed	The U.S. National Institutes of Health has offered royalty free licenses for several proprietary HIV drug patents to the UNITAID Medicines Patent Pool. 26,27
Product Development Partnerships (PDPs)	Mixed	In 2009 contributions from USAID and NIH to PDPs totaled \$45 million, comprising approximately 9 percent of total PDP funding. ²⁸
"Pull" mechanisms	•	•
Priority Review Voucher (PRV)	Public	Authorizing legislation for the PRV passed by Congress in 2007, first PRV awarded by the FDA in 2009. 29,30,31
Mechanisms incentivizing perfo	ormance/resul	
Supply side results-based med	chanisms	
Performance- Based Financing (PBF)	Mixed	USAID has incorporated PBF into a limited number of its global health programs often on a pilot basis, in countries such as Rwanda, Egypt, Haiti, and Honduras. 32,33
Results Based Aid (RBA)	Mixed	The U.S. Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC) utilizes an RBA approach, directing funding only to countries that qualify based on particular benchmarks outlined in advance (MCC health sector funding comprises approximately 2 percent of its total compact funding). ³⁴
Demand side results-based m	echanisms	
Conditional Cash Transfers (CCT)	Mixed	USAID has implemented CCT programs for maternal health programs in countries such as India. ³⁵
Vouchers	Mixed	USAID-supported voucher programs targeting maternal health services have been implemented in countries such as Pakistan. 36

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) *novel financing mechanisms* (IMF Gold Sales/Special Drawing Rights) would have to be initiated and implemented through the IMF governance apparatus, of which the U.S. is a part. While a single IMF member could not unilaterally require or prohibit adoption of one of these proposals, some countries do have more influence than others; for example, the U.S. has the largest voting share of any country on the IMF Executive Board (currently controlling 16.76% of all votes).³⁷

Finally, "Cash on Delivery Aid," a proposed supply side results-based mechanism, would involve an upfront, multi-year funding obligation, and therefore U.S. support for the mechanism could face the same obstacles as similar mechanisms not currently supported by the U.S., such as the Advance Market Commitment or the International Finance Facility. 38

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS FOR U.S. ENGAGEMENT

As noted above, this analysis finds that nine of the 16 operational Mixed or Public Mechanisms are currently supported or implemented by the U.S. government, while seven are not; another ten have been proposed and are not currently supported or implemented by the U.S. government. This section gives an overview of policy considerations and potential barriers to further engagement with innovative financing mechanisms by the U.S.

MECHANISMS WITH CURRENT ENGAGEMENT

For those nine mechanisms the U.S. government already supports or implements, policy considerations going forward center on whether or not the U.S. should increase or decrease its level of engagement with the mechanisms. For example, while the U.S. has in the past implemented Buy-downs for global health, there may be additional, unrealized opportunities to further U.S. goals through more extensive use of the Buy-down approach. Likewise, while Performance-based Financing and Vouchers have been incorporated as elements of U.S. programs in a limited number of countries, a question remains about whether or not wider (or narrower) application of these mechanisms is desirable. Similar policy debates around the proper level of U.S. engagement apply across all of the mechanisms the U.S. government supports.³⁹

MECHANISMS WITH POTENTIAL ENGAGEMENT

For those mechanisms with which the U.S. government does not currently engage, multiple factors could influence the decision to newly support a given mechanism. In some cases, policymakers may question the cost-effectiveness of an innovative mechanism in comparison to more traditional alternatives. For example, by law, the U.S. government is currently restricted from supporting the Affordable Medicines Facility for Malaria (AMFm), an example of a Medicines Subsidy, "pending compelling evidence of success" for the AMFm approach. Other factors that could influence policy decisions on engagement with innovative financing mechanisms include: the applicability of the mechanism to or consistency with U.S. goals and objectives in global health, the viability of introducing the mechanism in the broader economic and political context, the amount and type of governmental involvement needed, and any legal, budgetary, or regulatory barriers that could limit or prevent the U.S. from supporting a given mechanism.

COMMON POLICY BARRIERS

As summarized above, among the 26 "Public" or "Mixed" mechanisms, 16 are operational, and of these, the U.S. government currently participates in or implements nine (see Table 4). U.S. support is more common for "Mixed" mechanisms compared to "Public" ones. For the 14 operational and proposed mechanisms without U.S. support, which the U.S. could potentially engage with, we identified two policy barriers that commonly apply, over and above the other potential considerations of cost-effectiveness, impact, and viability, discussed above. These common policy barriers include a need to either 1) change U.S. tax policy (the case with five mechanisms) or 2) provide an upfront, multi-year funding commitment (the case with three mechanisms). These common barriers are summarized in Table 6 and discussed further below.

Among the other eight mechanisms that are not subject to either of these two policy barriers are some that share important similarities to those the U.S. already implements or supports. This could signal

^{*} Though a Proposed mechanism, the Patent Review Voucher was counted as having U.S. support given that it is a U.S. proposal. This leaves 16 other "Public" or "Mixed" mechanisms the U.S. does not support. Of these, two are N/A for considerations of U.S. government participation for purposes of this report: the De-tax and IMF Gold Sales/SDR mechanisms.

that, setting aside potential cost-effectiveness and other considerations, they might face fewer policy hurdles to gain U.S. government support. For example, the Pooled Funding mechanism has similarities to the Patent Pool and Product Development Partnerships mechanisms to which the U.S. government already contributes. The Patent Review Voucher, which is similar in approach to the Priority Review Voucher, remains a proposed mechanism but is in fact a U.S. initiative and therefore already enjoys a level of government support.

Table 6 lists all of the mechanisms (operational and proposed) that the U.S. government does not currently support, along with the applicability of these policy barriers to each.

Changes in Tax Policy. Among the mechanisms that would require changes in tax policy are the: Airline Ticket Tax, Financial Transaction Tax, R&D Tax Credits, Patent Insurance/"Green IP," and Tobacco Solidarity Tax. For example, an Airline Ticket Tax (which at least six other national governments have already implemented in support of the international drug purchasing fund UNITAID)⁴¹ would require legislation to institute a new mandatory tax added to the sale of airline tickets in the U.S. Similarly, implementing a Financial Transaction Tax (which over 40 countries, including the United Kingdom, have already implemented in some form at a domestic level)⁴² would require a new law that authorized such a tax in the U.S. A bill seeking to implement such a tax was introduced into the House of Representatives and referred to committee in 2010 (H.R. 5783, the "Investing in Our Future Act of 2010"), though the bill did not progress beyond that stage.⁴³ In addition, the current political climate is not favorable to additional taxes.

Category	Requires Change(s) in	Requires Upfront Multi-Year Funding	Other Potentia
Mechanism Name	Tax Policy	Commitment	Barriers
Novel Financing Mechanisms			
International Finance Facility		Χ	
Debt Forgiveness for Health			Χ
Airline Ticket Tax	X		
Financial Transaction Tax	X		
Tobacco Solidarity Tax	Χ		
Mechanisms to Stimulate Innovation, R&D			
Patent Insurance/"Green IP"	X		
Pooled Funding			Χ
R&D Tax Credits	X		
Advanced Market Commitment		Χ	
End-Product Prizes			Χ
Medicines Subsidy			Χ
Health Impact Fund			Χ
Milestone-based R&D Incentives			Χ
Mechanisms Incentivizing Performance/Resเ	ılts		
Cash-on-Delivery Aid		Χ	

^{*} Includes *Operational* and *Proposed* mechanisms. Not included in the table are: IMF Gold Sales/SDRs (which would require multilateral policy action through the IMF Board) and De-Tax (which requires a VAT-based tax system, not present in U.S.). The Patent Review Voucher is a mechanism proposed by U.S. government and therefore not included in this table.

Upfront, Multi-Year Funding Commitments. Other innovative mechanisms require upfront, multi-year funding commitments, i.e. obligating funding now for expenditures in future fiscal years. Mechanisms facing this barrier include the Advance Market Commitment, the International Finance Facility, and Cash-on Delivery Aid, each of which is predicated on long-term promises of support, with donors having to provide future year expenditure commitments in advance, sometimes without even knowing for sure how large the future budgetary outlays will be. ⁴⁴ U.S. agencies are typically prevented from making long-term discretionary spending commitments and obligations with U.S. federal funding and must instead ask, and receive Congressional approval for, their discretionary funds each year. Therefore, discretionary budget commitments for future years – sometimes five, ten, or more years out from the present – as are required by these mechanisms are largely prohibited, as specified by anti-deficiency laws dating back to the nineteenth century and codified under Title 31 of the United States Code, which specifically prohibits obligating "payment of money before an appropriation is made." ⁴⁵

While obligating future expenditures that have not yet been appropriated is prohibited, Congress has the ability to appropriate funds for multiple years in advance through a process known as "advance appropriations," which the Office of Management and Budget defines as "appropriations of new budget authority that become available one or more fiscal years beyond the fiscal year for which the appropriation act was passed." The advantage of such a construct is that a funding amount for a future year would not be "scored" – that is, counted – against the current fiscal year budget but would rather count against the year in which the appropriations legislation indicates it is to be made available. Therefore, any advance-appropriated funds would be "budget neutral" for the current year. At the same time, because an advance appropriation would then be scored against the budget in the future year in which it is obligated, it would count against the agency's budget ceiling in that year and therefore restrict its budgetary flexibilities. While the advance appropriations option has been exercised by Congress in the past in the context of several domestic programs, this budgetary technique has not been utilized in the context of innovative financing mechanisms, so policymakers would have to weigh carefully the trade-offs between the risks and benefits of this approach, such as the potential implications for budget flexibility in future years.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Greater attention is now being paid to innovative financing mechanisms and the role they could play in maintaining and expanding the impact of global health programs. This growing interest is in part due to worries about the availability and sustainability of global health assistance made through traditional channels, especially given an environment of fiscal constraint prevalent in the wake of the recent global economic crisis. While not expected to serve as a replacement for traditional health financing, such mechanisms may help to supplement existing funding, increase its effectiveness, and incentivize innovation in targeted areas.

This analysis has summarized and categorized existing information on prominent innovative financing mechanisms for global health. Overall, 31 mechanisms were identified across three main categories: novel funding mechanisms, mechanisms to stimulate innovation and R&D, and mechanisms incentivizing

[†] The U.S. government has, on two recent occasions, provided multi-year "pledges" of support for global health – to the Global Fund in 2010 for three years and the GAVI Alliance in 2011 for three years – but pledges are not equivalent to appropriations and future fiscal year funding for these pledges will still have to be authorized and appropriated by the U.S. Congress.

performance and/or results. These categories were further organized into sub-categories, identifying mechanisms that could be grouped together based on similarities in approach.

The U.S. government supports some of these innovative financing mechanisms but not others, in particular demonstrating a tendency to support mechanisms with "Mixed" – public-private – elements such as government funds used to catalyze private investments in health programs or R&D, over wholly government-based "Public" mechanisms such as new taxes. Among those mechanisms that are not already supported by the government, two main policy barriers emerge: the need to make changes in U.S. tax policy for some mechanisms, and the need for upfront, multi-year funding commitments to support others. While there are policy options available for overcoming these barriers, the risks and benefits of each potential policy course (over and above the policymakers' assessment of each mechanism's cost-effectiveness and political viability) should be given careful consideration going forward.

As the U.S. and other donors prepare for the G-20 Summit in France and the Fourth High Level Forum on Aid Effectiveness in Korea soon after, increasing attention will be placed on the role of innovative financing mechanisms, from the Financial Transaction Tax proposal that has received the most attention thus far and support from some donors (although not the U.S.), to mechanisms that include some level of private sector engagement and which have received support from the U.S. in the past. Consideration of the merits and effectiveness of expanding the use of these mechanisms, and careful examination of the roles they could play in light of growing pressure on aid budgets, will be important for the U.S. and other donors to assess. Moreover, the potential for such mechanisms to generate additional new revenue or make existing funding streams go further vary significantly and in part depend on the extent to which they might be adopted and level of commitment given to them. Ultimately, even if such mechanisms do gain more traction in the U.S. and elsewhere, it will be important to remember that the need for traditional health aid will persist.

By Category, with Descriptions, Key Characteristics and Background Information APPENDIX. INNOVATIVE FINANCING MECHANISMS FOR GLOBAL HEALTH:

TABLE A-1. SELECTED NOVEL FUNDING MECHANISMS FOR GLOBAL HEALTH	ED NOVEL F	UNDING MECH	ANISMS FOR	GLOBAL HEALTH		
Mechanism	Status	Supported/ Implemented in the US?	Public, Private, or Mixed	Description	Countries/Organizations Supporting or Implementing	Revenue/Financing Estimates
Directing private investments	tments					
Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs) [†]	Operational	Yes	Private	Private investment instruments traded on market exchanges linked to a cause, with part of collected fees transferred to fund global health programs.	Global Fund-linked index funds developed with Deutche Bank debuted in 2010.	None available.
Impact Investing ⁱⁱ	Operational	Yes	Private	Investment assets pooling and directing private financing to support projects or industries in developing countries, with an explicit goal of generating social benefits along with financial returns.	Multiple; organizational supporters include the Global Impact Investors Network (GIIN).	Estimated potential capital investment totals of \$400B-\$1 trillion, potential profit of \$183-\$667B over 10 years for investments in selected business sectors (health being one) in poor countries.
Risk Pooling/ Credit Guarantees ⁱⁱⁱ	Operational	Yes	Mixed	Mechanisms that seek to lower barriers to private investment in developing countries' health sectors by using public financing to share investment risks (risk pooling), or to fully or partially guarantee loans (credit guarantees).	Multiple; Examples include U.S. Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC), USAID's Development Credit Authority (DCA), the World Bank's Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA), and UN Foundation's Pledge Guarantee for Health (PGH).	2010: OPIC provided \$2.4B of financing and insurance, DCA about \$500M in guarantees, and MIGA \$1.5B, but health sector projects were only a small proportion. The PGH had \$6 million initial investment in 2010, estimates transaction volumes could reach \$45m/year; PGH savings on a \$3m grant estimated at \$600,000.
Voluntary consumer-based funding	ased funding					
Airline Ticket Voluntary Solidarity Contribution ^V	Operational	Yes	Private	Voluntary additional charge added to purchase price of passenger airline tickets, which is donated to support health projects.	The MASSIVEGODD organization is primary supporter and advocate. Ticket buyers in multiple countries (Spain was initial market) now have option to donate to UNITAID when purchasing through participating airline ticket wholesalers.	Voluntary contributions totaled \$200,000 for UNITAID in first 3 months of limited operation in 2010. Revenue estimates from worldwide participation: \$980M/year.
Mobile Phone Solidarity Contribution ^v	Operational	Yes	Private	One-time or recurring donations made by private individuals or companies through mobile phone bills.	Multiple	Estimated potential revenues of >\$800M annually. Over \$22M raised by Red Cross in 1 week after 2010 earthquake in Haiti.
Consumer Product- Based Donations ^{vi}	Operational	Yes	Private	Most prominent example is Product (RED), which partners with companies to direct a portion of proceeds from branded products to be directed to the Global Fund.	Multiple private retailers support (RED), such as The Gap, Starbucks, and Apple among others.	From 2006 to 2009, >\$150M provided to the Global Fund through this mechanism.
Front-loading funds						
International Finance Facility (IFF)***	Operational	° N	Mixed	An IFF "front-loads" funding through investment bonds backed by long-term donor pledges of assistance. An IFF-Immunization (IFFIm) that supports GAVI is operational, while others remain proposals (such as an IFF for Health Systems).	Multiple; countries committing funding to the IFFIm include Brazil, France, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, and the United Kingdom; organizational supporters include the World Bank and the Gates Foundation.	Commitments to IFFIm from 2006-2010 totaled \$5.9B, with \$2B already approved and \$1.25B distributed. Total anticipated disbursement to GAVI through this mechanism: \$4B.

TABLE A-1, contin	nued. SELECT	ED NOVEL FUNI	DING MECHA	TABLE A-1, continued. SELECTED NOVEL FUNDING MECHANISMS FOR GLOBAL HEALTH		
Mechanism	Status	Supported/ Implemented in the US?	Public, Private, or Mixed	Description	Countries/Organizations Supporting or Implementing	Revenue/Financing Estimates
Redirecting credits or debts	r debts					
Buy-downs ^{viii}	Operational	Yes	Mixed	Typically coordinated through the World Bank (IDA), third-party donors "buy down" interest/principal on a loan, reducing borrowing costs and freeing up funds to be directed to health projects. Sometimes triggered through meeting performance benchmarks.	Multiple, including the World Bank, Gates Foundation, UN Foundation, and U.S. Centers for Disease Control.	\$100M buy-down facilitated \$190M for health in Pakistan and Nigeria; \$50M buydown supported HIV/AIDS programs in Botswana. Estimated each \$1M in buy down funding results in \$2.0-2.2M for projects.
Debt Forgiveness for Health [×]	Operational	ON	Public	Lenders forgive developing country debt under condition that portion of funds be directed to health projects; Debt2Health is one example of this mechanism.	Through Debt2Health, Germany has cancelled debts with Indonesia, Pakistan, and Cote d'Iviore, and Australia cancelled debts with Indonesia.	Debts of €50M, €40M, €19m, and AUS\$75M forgiven in past years; estimated potential annual financing amount through this mechanism: up to \$100M.
De-tax ^x	Proposed	N/A	Public	A percentage of Value-Added Tax (VAT) waived and diverted to health programs	Proposal made by Italy. Not applicable in countries such as the U.S. that do not have a VAT system of taxation.	Estimated revenues from 1% VAT waiver: \$1.38 for Japan, Germany, France, and Italy combined.
IMF Assets: Gold Sales/Special Drawing Rights (SDRs)**	Proposed	No	Public	Funds for health programs generated through IMF sales of gold reserves or distribution of "Special Drawing Rights" (SDRs) credits to developing countries. SDRs are financial assets that can be converted into cash or used to leverage credit terms.	Supporters have included the Center for Global Development, Jubilee USA, ActionAid, and ONE.	Following the global financial crisis, IMF allocated about \$250B in SDRs, with \$165B going to developed countries; full amounts could potentially be converted. There currently is no cap on value of potential additional SDR distributions.
New taxes or levies						
Airline Ticket Tax ^{vii}	Operational	N _O	Public	Small, obligatory tax on international passenger airline tickets, currently ranging from \$1 to \$40 (sometimes depending on ticket class) in countries where operational.	As of Sep 2011, nine countries support UNITAID through this mechanism: Cameroun, Chile, Congo, France, Madagascar, Mali, Mauritius, Niger, and Republic of Korea.	UNITAID reports receiving approximately \$2B in funds through airline ticket taxes between 2006 and April 2011.
Financial Transaction Tax (FTT) ^{xiii}	Proposed	ON	Public	Small, obligatory tax on financial transactions. An FTT can be imposed on transactions involving a range of asset types, such as currency, derivatives, and equities.	At least 40 countries already institute a domestic FTT. France is primary governmental proponent of international FTTs; European Parliament voted in favor of an EU FTT in March 2011. US bill H.R. 5783 (2010) sought to implement a currency transaction tax in the U.S.	Estimated annual revenues from an international currency transaction tax (at proposed rate of 0.005%), is \$25B to \$34B.
Tobacco Solidarity Tax ^{xiv}	Proposed	N	Public	Also called a "Solidarity Tobacco Levy" (STL), it is a "micro-tax" on tobacco sales amounting to 5, 3, or 1 cent per pack depending on country income classification.	World Health Organization	Estimated potential revenues from 5-cent tax: \$4B annually (high-income countries). Taxes across G20 countries could generate >US \$7B annually.

TABLE A-2. SELECTED MECHANISMS TO STIMULATE INN	MECHANISMS	TO STIMULATE	INNOVATION	JOVATION, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT FOR GLOBAL HEALTH	OR GLOBAL HEALTH	
Name	Status	Supported/ implemented in the U.S.	Public, Private, or Mixed	Description	Countries/Organizations Supporting or Implementing	Financing Amounts
"Push" mechanisms						
Patent Fees/ "Green IP""	Proposed	O Z	Public	Would add new, obligatory fees for patent applicants and patent holders to raise resources for neglected disease R&D and technology transfer. In return for fees, patentees would obtain insurance to compensate them for losses from intellectual property encroachment.	Green Intellectual Property Project	Potential financing generated through this mechanism estimated at >\$50 billion based on 2003-2004 patent market.
Patent Pools ^{xvi}	Operational	Yes	Mixed	Patent-holders share proprietary molecules, drugs, manufacturing processes, etc. to stimulate collaborative R&D. Patent holders can either share patents royalty-free or receive payments from use of their patent(s).	UNITAID's Medicines Patent Pool for HIV medicines initiated in 2008. Roche and Gilead have agreed to participate and NIH provided royalty-free licenses. GlaxoSmithKline's Pool for Open Innovation against Neglected Tropical Diseases initiated in 2009, administered by BIO Ventures for Global Health.	None available.
Pooled Funding ^{wil}	Proposed	NO	Mixed	Private and public donors collectively fund an investment pool, which is directed to a jointly agreed-upon R&D project portfolio.	Novartis proposed a Fund for Research in Neglected Diseases (FRIND), the George Institute proposed an Industry R&D Facilitation Fund (IRFF), and IAVI proposed a PDP Finance Facility (PDP-FF).	One proposal estimates resources required to support R&D portfolio for 10 high-profile diseases for 10 years to be \$6-10B.
Research and Development Tax Credits*******	Operational (in UK)	O _N	Public	Companies provided tax credits for investments made in neglected disease R&D.	U.K. provides R&D tax credits through R&D and "Vaccine Research Relief" programs. Genzyme (U.S. biotechnology company) has supported a bill on R&D tax credits in the U.S. congress (H.R. 3156, 2009).	U.S. H.R. 3156 would provide companies with 50% credit for "non-clinical" expenses for R&D focused on a defined set of neglected diseases.
Product Development Partnerships (PDPs) ^{xix}	Operational	Yes	Mixed	Private/public/academic partnerships facilitating cooperative R&D on products for global health.	Multiple; major donors and supporters include Gates Foundation, USAID, and NIH. Three largest PDPs in 2009 were PATH, IAVI, and the Aeras Global TB Foundation.	Global PDP funding estimated at \$530M in 2009, with an estimated 26 PDPs working on approximately 122 products.

TABLE A-2, continued. SELECTED MECHANISMS TO STIMULAT	. SELECTED ME	CHANISMS TO	STIMULATE IN	TE INNOVATION, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT FOR GLOBAL HEALTH	OPMENT FOR GLOBAL HEALTH	
Name	Status	Supported/ implemented	Public, Private, or	Description	Countries/Organizations Supporting or Implementing	Financing Amounts
"Pull" mechanisms		III III 0.3.	NINE			
Advance Market Commitments (AMCs) ³⁴	Operational	S.	Mixed	A guaranteed advance purchase contract, backed by donors, for a desired product. Aims to incentivize private R&D and/or greater dissemination of product. The only currently operating AMC is to fund purchases of pneumococcal vaccine for GAVI.	UK, Italy, Canada, the Netherlands, Sweden, and the Gates Foundation fund the pneumococcal AMC in support of GAVI; technical and other support provided by UNICEF, WHO, and the World Bank.	\$1.5 billion in initial funding provided by donors for pneumococcal AMC; credited with reducing pneumococcal vaccine price from \$70 to \$7 per dose for GAVI-eligible countries.
Medicines Subsidy [™]	Operational (pilot)	S Z	Public	Fund that attempts to reduce consumer price of, expand access to medicines through subsidizing first-line purchases of drugs from manufacturers. One example, the Affordable Medicines Facility for Malaria (AMFm), seeks to increase access and reduce prices for artemesinincombination therapies and is currently in pilot study stage.	Global Fund, UNITAID, and the United Kingdom.	Approximately \$225 million provided for twoyear AMFm pilot; 2010 prices for targeted antimalarials reduced 80% from 2008-2009 prices for first-line buyers following negotiations and subsidy.
Health Impact-Based Funding ^{xxii}	Proposed	O Z	Public	Pool of public donor funds distributed to innovators of new medicines and vaccines based on their assessed health impact.	Incentives for Global Health	The recommended initial funding requirement is \$6 billion to cover an estimated portfolio of 20 drugs.
Milestone R&D Incentives ^{xxiii}	Proposed	O _N	Mixed	Product developers receive monetary rewards set up in advance as they complete milestones in the R&D/clinical trial process for target products.	BIO Ventures for Global Health	N/A
Priority Review Voucher (PRV)****	Operational	Yes	Public	Developers of drug/product for a neglected disease receive a voucher for priority (accelerated) Food and Drug Administration (FDA) review on another product.	United States (FDA). First ever PRV voucher awarded in 2009 to Novartis following approval of its malaria drug Coartem.	Estimated value of a PRV ranges from \$100m to \$500m; cost to FDA's for performing priority review estimated at \$5.4m.
End-Product Prizes ^{xw}	Operational	O _N	Mixed	First innovator to develop a product that meets specified guidelines receives a monetary prize (at a set amount or one proportional to impact).	Multiple, including the US. America COMPETES Act (HR 5116), re-authorized in December 2010, provides U.S. agencies authority to use prizes for innovation.	N/A
Patent Review Voucher ^{xxvi}	Proposed	Yes	Public	Provides a voucher for "fast-track" US Patent & Trademark Office (USPTO) patent examination for innovators making a technology available for humanitarian purposes, such as for vaccine or medicine development for neglected diseases.	USPTO pilot program for the fast-track patent examination voucher announced in September 2010.	N/A

TABLE A-3. SELECTE	ED MECHANISA	AS TO INCENT!	VIZE PERFORN	TABLE A-3. SELECTED MECHANISMS TO INCENTIVIZE PERFORMANCE/RESULTS IN GLOBAL HEALTH	I	
Name	Status	Supported/ implemented in the U.S.	Public, Private, or Mixed	Description	Countries/Organizations Supporting or Implementing	Financing Amounts
Supply-side results-based mechanisms	ed mechanisms					
Cash-on-Delivery (COD) Aid ^{xxvii}	Proposed	ON O	Public	Donor aid provided to recipient country/organization only <i>after</i> a project has been completed, the amount of which is tied to the recipient's success in demonstrating improvements in results indicators.	Proposed by the Center for Global Development in 2010. The United Kingdom has stated an intention to pilot several COD projects in the coming years.	N/A
Performance-Based Financing (PBF) ^{xxviii}	Operational	Yes	Mixed	Financing of providers/implementers of health projects which ties funding to achievement of results (impacts/outcomes), the terms of which are agreed upon prior to disbursement.	Multiple, including World Bank, Argentina, and Burundi. Norway and the United Kingdom have supported a World Bank- administered Health Results Innovation Trust Fund (HRITF), which supports PBF efforts in several countries.	\$500M has been pledged to support the HRITE. Plan Nacer, in Argentina, provides PBF-based support to providers of maternal and child health programs for the poor (\$438M in loan support from World Bank). A Burundi project (\$25M World Bank grant support) aims to improve MCH services delivery and utilization.
Results-Based Aid (RBA)****	Operational	Yes	Mixed	International donor assistance provided to a recipient government that ties financing to achievement of certain predefined results (such as desired impacts or outcomes).	Multiple, including the Global Fund, U.S. Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC), and GAVI. Global Fund requires achievement of benchmarks for full aid dispersal; Aid through GAVI's Immunization Services Support (ISS) based on number of children vaccinated. MCC provides aid only after countries exceed defined benchmarks	Global Fund to date has provided \$21.7B in RBA-type funding to 150 countries. MCC has provided over \$7B in RBA-based compact funding, of which approximately \$950M has been focused on health, water, and sanitation.
Demand-side results-based mechanisms	sed mechanisms					
Conditional Cash Transfers (CCT)***	Operational	Yes	Mixed	Cash payments provided directly to individuals that engage in desired health-supporting behaviors, such as pregnant women completing prenatal care visits, parents fully immunizing their children, or parents keeping children in school.	Multiple, including Mexico, Honduras, Colombia, Nicaragua, and Rwanda; support from World Bank.	Mexico's <i>Opportunidades</i> Program: \$1.5M Ioan support from World Bank.
Vouchers ^{xxii}	Operational	Yes	Mixed	Vouchers are unconditional cash transfers that provide patients/clients of the health care system access to key services, such as prenatal care visits, at reduced or no cost.	Multiple, including Bangladesh, India, and Cambodia. Support from USAID, World Bank, and others.	None

REFERENCES

_

¹ Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (2010). Financing Global Health 2010: Development Assistance and Country Spending in Economic Uncertainty http://bit.ly/hFXY3u; Kaiser Family Foundation, Donor Funding for Health in Low- & Middle-Income Countries, 2001-2008 http://www.kff.org/globalhealth/upload/7679-04.pdf.

² Kaiser Family Foundation (2011). Financing the Response to AIDS in Low- and Middle- Income Countries: International Assistance from the G8, European Commission and Other Donor Governments in 2010 http://www.kff.org/hivaids/7347.cfm; Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (2010). "Despite economic slump, donors give generously to global health, though at a slower rate" [News Release]. http://bit.ly/nAIEDJ.

³ International Monetary Fund (2011). *Global Financial Stability Report September 2011*. http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/gfsr/2011/02/index.htm.

⁴ Simiyu K, Daar AS, Singer PA (2010). Stagnant Health Technologies in Africa. *Science* 330:1484, 10 December.

⁵ Cohen J, Staroselsky-Dibner M, Wilson A (2010). Development of and Access to Products for Neglected Diseases. *PLoS One* 5(5):e10610.

⁶ Global Health Technologies Coalition (2011). Sparking Innovation to Save Lives: 2011 Policy Report. http://www.ghtcoalition.org/policy-report/2011/index.php.

⁷ High Level Task Force on Innovative Financing for Health Systems (2009). *More money for health, and more health for the money.* http://bit.ly/q3E6vp.

⁸ Gates B (2011). "Staying Committed to Development" [Blog Post]. *The Gates Notes*, 11 April http://www.thegatesnotes.com/Topics/Development/Staying-Committed-to-Development.

⁹ World Bank (undated). *Innovative Finance for Development Solutions*. http://bit.ly/rm32ol.

¹⁰ Global Health Initiative (2011). *The United States Global Health Initiative Strategy Document*. http://bit.ly/dvwWQi.

¹¹ USAID (2011). "Science & Technology" [Website]. *USAID Forward* http://forward.usaid.gov/reform-agenda/science-and-technology.

¹² Christie R (2011). "EU Proposes \$78 Billion-a-Year Financial Transaction Tax to Start in 2014". Bloomberg, 28 September http://bloom.bg/qWn3Fh.

World Bank (undated). Innovative Finance for Development Solutions. http://bit.ly/rm32ol.

¹⁴ The Leading Group on Innovative Financing for Development. http://www.leadinggroup.org/rubrique176.html. The Leading Group is a public-private body founded in 2006 with representation from 60 country governments, various international institutions, and non-governmental organizations.

¹⁵ High Level Task Force on Innovative Financing for Health Systems. http://www.internationalhealthpartnership.net/en/taskforce. The High Level Task Force was a group of governmental, multilateral, academic, and other representatives convened in 2008, chaired by former United Kingdom Prime Minister Gordon Brown.

¹⁶ OECD Development Assistance Committee (2011). Mapping of Some Important Innovative Finance for Development Mechanisms. DCD/DAC/STAT/RD(2011)1/RD1.

¹⁷ ONE (2011). The Data Report. http://www.one.org/data/.

¹⁸ For further information about novel financing mechanisms for global health and development, see: Taskforce on Innovative International Financing for Health Systems (2009). More money for health, and more health for the money: final report. International Health Partnership http://bit.ly/p7gw12; The Leading Group on Innovative Financing for Development website: http://www.leadinggroup.org/rubrique20.html.

¹⁹ For further information and description of R&D for Global Health, see: Results for Development Institute's Center for Global Health R&D Policy Assessment, http://healthresearchpolicy.org/; World Health Organization (2009). Public health, innovation and intellectual property: Report of the Expert Working Group on Research and

Development Financing. http://www.who.int/intellectualproperty/report/en/; Anderson GF (2009). Spurring New Research for Neglected Diseases. Health Affairs 28(6); and Global Health Technologies Coalition. Incentives and innovative financing for global health product development. Fact Sheet. http://bit.ly/nQSDFj.

- For more information on performance-based approaches in health and development, see: The World Bank's Results-Based Financing for Health site (www.rbfhealth.org); Eichler R, Levine R (2009). Performance Incentives for Global Health: Potentials and Pitfalls. http://www.cgdev.org/content/publications/detail/1422178; Savedoff WD (2011). Incentive Proliferation? Making Sense of a New Wave of Development Programs [Essay]. http://www.cgdev.org/content/publications/detail/1425405/; USAID and Health Systems 20/20: Paying for Performance in Health: A Guide to Developing The Blueprint. http://bit.ly/mVjqdo; Pearson M (2011). Results based aid and results based financing: What are they? Have they delivered results? HLSP Institute, January.
- ²¹ U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (2010). Request for Comments on Incentivizing Humanitarian Technologies and Licensing Through the Intellectual Property System. *Federal Register* 75(181): 57261. http://edocket.access.gpo.gov/2010/pdf/2010-23395.pdf.
- ²² OPIC (2010). Annual Report 2010. http://www.opic.gov/sites/default/files/docs/annualreport 2010.pdf.
- ²³ USAID (201). Development Credit Authority Year in Review 2010. http://1.usa.gov/p4lciB.
- ²⁴ Global Polio Eradication Initiative (2011). "Financial Requirements" [Website] http://bit.ly/nkyB7u.
- ²⁵ World Bank (2006). "World Bank to Help Nigeria Consolidate 95% Decline in Polio" [Press Release] http://go.worldbank.org/5CG749LFM0.
- ²⁶ Chen H (2010). "US Government First to Share Patents with New Patent Pool" [Blog Post]. OSTP Blog, 30 September http://l.usa.gov/cVe4Sx.
- ²⁷ Kelland K (2010). "NIH Joins Patent Pool for New Drugs" [News Report]. Reuters, 30 September http://reut.rs/mkdq0y.
- ²⁸ Policy Cures (2011). *Neglected Disease Research and Development: Is the Global Financial Crisis Changing R&D? G-FINDER Report 2010*. http://bit.ly/hjG9Ej.
- ²⁹ Grabowski HG, Ridley DB, Moe JL (2008). Priority Review Vouchers to Encourage Innovation for Neglected Tropical Diseases [Presentation], September http://hvrd.me/p00jNv.
- ³⁰ Food and Drug Administration (2008). "Priority Review to Encourage Treatments for Tropical Diseases" Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FD&C Act), section 524. http://l.usa.gov/qvvJNh.
- ³¹ Karst, K (2009). "FDA Approves COARTEM with Priority Review Voucher; Voucher Market is Untested and Unclear", FDA Law Blog [Blog Post] http://bit.ly/omn1GX.
- ³² USAID (2010). Performance-Based Incentives: Primer for USAID Missions, July http://bit.ly/mXqqZz.
- ³³ USAID (2010). Performance Based Financing Project, Rwanda [Fact Sheet]. http://l.usa.gov/piOyJG.
- ³⁴ Kaiser Family Foundation (2011). MCC and Global Health [Fact Sheet] April http://www.kff.org/globalhealth/7994.cfm.
- ³⁵ Gates M (2011). "Innovative Solutions to Save Lives" [Blog Post], March http://bit.ly/ehjLUu.
- ³⁶ USAID (2010). Performance-Based Incentives: Primer for USAID Missions, July http://bit.ly/mXqqZz.
- ³⁷ International Monetary Fund (2011). IMF Members' Quotas and Voting Power, and IMF Board of Governors [Website]: http://www.imf.org/external/np/sec/memdir/members.aspx.
- ³⁸ Leo, B (2010). *Can Donors Be Flexible within Restrictive Budget Systems? Options for Innovative Financing Mechanisms*. Center For Global Development Working Paper 226, October.
- ³⁹ For additional discussion, see: Hecht R, Palriwala A, and Rao A (2010). *Innovative Financing for Global Health: A Moment for Expanded U.S. Engagement?* Center for Strategic and International Studies, April.
- ⁴⁰ Global Fund (2008). "Report of the Affordable Medicines Facility—Malaria Ad Hoc Committee," GF/B18/7 Decision, 18th Board Meeting, November 7-8, 2008.
- ⁴¹ UNITAID (2011). "UNITAID Main Donors" [Website]. http://bit.ly/hCR3iL.

⁴² IHRA.net (2010). "A Financial Transaction Tax for Global Health." http://bit.ly/ga5NEf.

⁴³ GovTrack (2011). "Investing in Our Future Act 2010." http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=h111-5783.

⁴⁴ Leo, B (2010). *Can Donors Be Flexible within Restrictive Budget Systems? Options for Innovative Financing Mechanisms*. Center For Global Development Working Paper 226, October.

⁴⁵ OMB Circular A-11 (2010). SECTION 145—REQUIREMENTS FOR REPORTING ANTIDEFICIENCY ACT VIOLATIONS. http://l.usa.gov/rcFFBN.

⁴⁶ OMB Circular No. A–11 (2010), Section 20. PREPARATION, SUBMISSION, AND EXECUTION OF THE BUDGET. http://l.usa.gov/pokgHd.

⁴⁷ Streeter S (2010). *Advance Appropriations, Forward Funding, and Advance Funding*. Congressional Research Service, Report RS20441, 22 November. http://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc31436/.

⁴⁸ See examples listed in the U.S. Budget, FY 2011, "Advance Appropriations" Appendix. http://www.gpoaccess.gov/usbudget/fy11/pdf/appendix/aaa.pdf.

⁴⁹ Some additional policy options that could potentially be used to overcome the restrictions inherent in the annual U.S. budgetary process are discussed in: Leo B (2010). *Can Donors Be Flexible within Restrictive Budget Systems?*Options for Innovative Financing Mechanisms. Center for Global Development Working Paper 226, October.

SOURCES AND FURTHER READING BY MECHANISM

Exchange Traded Funds: Dow Jones Global Fund 50 Index to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (the "Index"). http://www.etf.db.com/UK/ENG/Pages/Home/719.html; "Deutsche Bank and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (Global Fund) to collaborate on an Exchange Traded Fund (ETF)" [Press Release]. August 2010. http://bit.ly/ng7v0y.

- Impact Investing: JP Morgan and Rockefeller (2010). Impact Investments: An Emerging Asset Class. November 2010. http://www.jpmorgan.com/pages/jpmorgan/investbk/research/impactinvestments; Global Impact Investing Network website. www.thegiin.org; Karamchandani A, Kubzansky M, Frandano P (2009). Emerging Markets, Emerging Models: Market Based Solutions to the Challenges of Global Poverty. Monitor Group. http://bit.ly/18v4di; Grantmakers In Health (2011). Guide to Impact Investing. http://www.gih.org/usr_doc/GIH_Guide_to_Impact_Investing_FINAL_May_2011.pdf; Dahlberg Global Development Advisors (2011). Impact investing in West Africa. http://bit.ly/q56taS; Sullivan P (2010). "With Impact Investing, a Focus on More Than Returns". New York Times April 23; Economist (2011). "Happy Returns: The birth of a virtuous new asset class", September 10. http://www.economist.com/node/21528678.
- Risk Pooling/Credit Guarantees: Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC) website: www.opic.gov; Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA) website: www.miga.org; USAID Development Credit Authority website: http://www.usaid.gov/our_work/economic_growth and trade/development_credit/; The Pledge Guarantee for Health (PGH) [website]: http://www.undispatch.com/the-pledge-guarantee-for-health and http://bit.ly/oty1fp.
- PublicAffairs; Taskforce on Innovative Financing (2008). Voluntary Solidarity Contribution on travel products (VSC). http://bit.lv/qR6PD2.
- V Mobile Phone Solidarity Contributions: Taskforce on Innovative Financing (2008). Mobile Phone Solidarity Contribution http://mobilegiving.org/; Mobile Giving Foundation website http://mobilegiving.org/; Mobile Active website: http://mobileactive.org/; Health T (2010). "U.S. cellphone users donate \$22 million to Haiti earthquake relief via text." Washington Post January 20. http://wapo.st/7r5Abt.
- vi Consumer Product-Based Donations: Global Fund (RED) website.

 http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/privatesector/red/; Pontea S, Richey LA, Baab M (2009). Bono's Product (RED)
 Initiative: corporate social responsibility that solves the problems of 'distant others'. Third World Quarterly
 30(2):301-317; Dadush S (2010). Profiting in (RED): The Need for Enhanced Transparency in Cause-Related
 Marketing. NYU Journal of International Law & Policy 42(4):1269.
- http://www.iffim.org/; Moss T (2005). Ten Myths of the International Finance Facility. Center for Global Development Working Paper 60, May. http://www.cgdev.org/content/publications/detail/2728; Pearson M, et al (2011). Evaluation of the International Finance Facility for Immunisation (IFFIm). HLSP, June. http://bit.ly/pSW5vd; Taskforce on Innovative Financing for Health Systems (2008). "IFFIm". [Fact Sheet]. http://bit.ly/nkfkae.
- Viii Buy-downs: World Bank (2003). Financial Innovation Will Buy Polio Vaccine To Help Eradicate Polio Worldwide [Press Release]. http://go.worldbank.org/BZDWNYSONO; World Bank (2010). WB's Additional Support for Pakistan's Polio Eradication Initiative [Factsheet]. http://bit.ly/oToqGL; World Bank (2011). World Bank to Help Nigeria Consolidate 95% Decline in Polio [Press Release]. http://bit.ly/gXTDzH; GAVI (2005). IDA Buy-downs. http://bit.ly/obXM19. Task Force on Innovative Financing for Health Systems (2009). Buy-downs [Factsheet]. http://bit.ly/rkkiKg.

bet Foregiveness for Health: Global Fund Debt2Health website:

http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/innovativefinancing/debt2health; Global Fund (2010). Innovative Financing of the Global Fund: Debt2Health [Brochure]. http://bit.ly/rl8L5K; Taskforce on Innovative Financing for Health Systems (2009). Global Fund Debt2Health [Factsheet]. http://bit.ly/nNpkiU.

^{*} **De-tax**: Taskforce on Innovative Financing for Health Systems (2009). "De-tax" [Fact sheet]. http://bit.ly/r0bWj7.

Reserve System. [Factsheet], June; International Monetary Fund (2011). Use of Gold Sale Profits—Initial Considerations and Options [Working Paper]. http://bit.ly/hKlwwM; Jubilee USA (2009). Leveraging IMF Gold Sales for the Benefit of Low Income Countries [Position Paper]. http://bit.ly/rm4WTP; Birdsall N, Williamson J (2005). Gold for Debt: What's New and What's Next? http://www.cgdev.org/files/3097 file CGD Note IMF Gold.pdf; Birdsall N, Leo B (2011). Find Me The Money: Financing Climate and Other Global Public Goods. Center for Global Development Working Paper 248, April. http://bit.ly/okY5OX; ONE (2011). The Data Report 2011. http://www.one.org/data/.

xii Airline Ticket Tax: UNITAID Innovative Financing website: http://bit.ly/ouxQqD; World Bank and GAVI (201). Innovative Financing - Airline Ticket Tax http://bit.ly/pL5CSz; Leading Group for Innovative Financing for Development website: http://www.leadinggroup.org/rubrique177.html; Bermudez J (2008). UNITAID [Presentation]. OECD Global Forum on Development. http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/7/57/41466538.pdf; Douste-Blazy P, Altman D (2010). http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/7/57/41466538.pdf; Douste-Blazy P, Altman D (2011). http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/7/57/41466538.pdf; Douste-Blazy P, Altman D (

http://bit.ly/qGa0MS; Interaction (2011). Financial Transaction Taxes: A Summary of Options. G20 Summit Background Brief, April; UNITAID (2011). Report on feasibility of FTT for global health and development. http://www.unitaid.eu/en/component/content/article/360.html; Institute of Development Studies (2010). Is a Financial Transaction Tax a Good Idea? A Review of the Evidence. Issue 14.2, October. http://bit.ly/rhOINp; McCulloch N, Pasillo G (2011). The Tobin Tax: A Review of the Evidence. IDS Research Report No 68 http://bit.ly/nildrP; Douste-Blazy P (2009). 'A Tiny Tax Could Do a World of Good'. New York Times http://nyti.ms/1GE5KT; European FTT website: http://www.financialtransactiontax.eu/.

xiv **Tobacco Solidarity Tax**: Wreford-Howard S (2010). WHO support to Innovative Financing for Health [Presentation]. http://bit.ly/qIJB6H; World Health Organization NCDnet International Advisory Council (2010). Discussion Paper III: Using Tobacco Taxes and an Additional Solidarity Tobacco Levy for International Health; World Health Organization (2010). Tobacco Taxes and Innovative Financing [Presentation]. http://bit.ly/n04aDF.

xv Patent Fees/'Green IP': Green IP website. www.greenip.org.

Patent Pools: Goulding, R Palriwala A (2011). Patent Pools: Assessing Their Value-Added for Global Health Innovation and Access. Results for Development Center for Global Health R&D Policy Assessment, September. http://bit.ly/qpYoUK; Pool for Open Innovation against NTDs website: http://ntdpool.org/; 't Hoen E, et al (2011). Driving a decade of change: HIV/AIDS, patents and access to medicines for all. *Journal of the International AIDS Society* 14:15; Tatalović M (2010). 'US first to join HIV/AIDS patent pool'. SciDev Network http://bit.ly/98Zdtw.

^{xvii} **Pooled Funding:** Grace C, Pearson M (2010). Pooled Funds: Assessing New Models for Global Health R&D Financing. Results for Development Center for Global Health R&D Policy Assessment, November. http://bit.ly/qyNqML; International AIDS Vaccine Initiative (2009). *Financing for Research and Development of Global Health Technologies: Design and Feasibility of a Product-Development Partnership (PDP) Financing Facility* [Concept note]. http://bit.ly/rnGQoo.

Research and Development Tax Credits: Rao A (2011). R&D Tax Credits: A Tool to Advance Global Health Technologies? http://bit.ly/oA7QPf Results for Development Center for Global Health R&D Policy Assessment; OECD (2003). Tax Incentives for Research and Development: Trends and Issues. http://bit.ly/velUx. Government Accountability Office (2009). Tax Policy: The Research Tax Credit's Design and Administration Can Be Improved.

http://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-10-136; Monti M (2002). State Aid N 228/02 – United Kingdom Vaccines Research Relief Introduction of a New Scheme and Modification of State Aid N 802/99 [letter to the European Commission] 22 April http://bit.ly/r5vO6q.

- *** Product Development Partnerships: Moran M, Ropars A, Guzman J, Diaz J, Garrison C. *The new landscape of neglected disease drug development*. Wellcome Trust http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/13947/; International AIDS Vaccine Initiative (201). Innovative product development partnerships: advancing global health and economic development goals. Policy Brief No. 26, Sep. http://bit.ly/cVsc5z; Moran M, Guzman J, et al (2010). The role of Product Development Partnerships in research and development for neglected diseases. *International Health* 2(2):114-122, June; Grace C (2010). *Product Development Partnerships (PDPs): Lessons from PDPs established to develop new health technologies for neglected diseases*. UK Department for International Development, June. Jack A (2011). 'Remedies for drug development'. *Financial Times* July 20; PolicyCures (2011). Neglected Disease Research and Development: The G-FINDER Report 2010 http://bit.ly/hjg9Ej.
- Advance Market Commitment (AMC): Advance Market Commitment for Vaccines website: http://www.vaccineamc.org/; Snyder CM, Begor W, Berndt ER (2011). Economic Perspectives on the Advance Market Commitment for Pneumococcal Vaccines. *Health Affairs* 30(8):1508-1517. Taskforce on Innovative Financing for Health Systems (2009). "Advance Market Commitments" [Fact sheet]. http://bit.ly/mSfigZ; Case Studies for Global Health (2009). A Marriage of Divergent Interests: Partnership in the Making of the World's First Advance Market Commitment. http://bit.ly/gzlswM.
- Medicines Subsidy: Affordable Medicines Facility—malaria website: http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/amfm/; Laxminarayan R, Gelband H (2009). A Global Subsidy: Key to Affordable Drugs For Malaria? Health Affairs 28(4):949-961, July/August; Arrow KJ, Panosian C, Gelband H Eds (2004). Saving Lives, Buying Time: Economics of Malaria Drugs in an Age of Resistance. National Academies Press http://bit.ly/qLDtc8; Center for Health Market Innovations. Affordable Medicines Facility—malaria [website] http://bit.ly/prPBm7; Schäferhoff M, Yamey G (2011). Estimating Benchmarks of Success in the Affordable Medicines Facility—malaria (AMFm). Evidence to Policy Initiative, January. http://bit.ly/nCeofU.
- Health Impact-Based Funding: Banerjee A, Hollis A, Pogge T (2010). The Health Impact Fund: incentives for improving access to medicines. Lancet 375:166–69; Incentives for Global Health website: http://www.yale.edu/macmillan/igh/; Hollis A, Pogge T (2009). The Health Impact Fund: Making New Medicines Accessible to All. http://www.yale.edu/macmillan/igh/hif book.pdf.
- wiii **Milestone-based Prizes:** BioVentures for Health (2011). IQ Prize website: http://www.bvgh.org/What-We-Do/Incentives/IQ-Prize.aspx.
- vxiv **Priority Review Voucher**: Grabowski H (2005). "Encouraging the Development of New Vaccines." *Health Affairs* 24(3):697-700, May/June; Matheny J, Smith B, Courtney B, Mair M (2009). Drug and Vaccine Development for Infectious Diseases: The Value of Priority Review Vouchers. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 85:571-572. Karst KR (2009). 'FDA Approves COARTEM with Priority Review Voucher; Voucher Market is Untested and Unclear' [Blog Post]. FDA Law Blog. http://bit.ly/omn1GX.
- End-Product Prizes: Wilson P, Palriwala A (2010). Prizes for Global Health Technologies. Results for Development Center for Global Health R&D Policy Assessment http://bit.ly/qR8RII; Love J, Hubbard T (2007). The Big Idea: Prizes To Stimulate R&D For New Medicines. Chicago-Kent Law Review 82:3.
- Attent Review Voucher: US Patent and Trademark Office (2010). Request for Comments on Incentivizing Humanitarian Technologies and Licensing Through the Intellectual Property System. *Federal Register* 75(181): 57261. http://edocket.access.gpo.gov/2010/pdf/2010-23395.pdf; Silverman E (2010). 'Patent Office Eyes Vouchers To Widen Access To Meds'. *Pharmalot* http://bit.ly/bDXiOJ.
- xxvii Cash on Delivery (COD) Aid: See the Center for Global Development's COD aid website: http://www.cgdev.org/section/initiatives/ active/codaid; Rosenberg T (2011). 'How to Protect Foreign Aid? Improve it...' [Blog Post]. New York Times Opinionator Blog http://nyti.ms/fNOHVE.

Performance-Based Financing (PBF): Multiple publications and other resources on the World Bank's Results Based Financing for health website: www.rbfhealth.org; Eichler R, Levine R (2009). Performance Incentives for Global Health: Potential and Pitfalls. Center for Global Development, May http://bit.ly/150IOY; Ireland M, Paul E, Dujardin B (2011). Can performance-based financing by used to reform health systems in developing countries? Bulletin of the World Health Organization 89:695-698; Soeters R, et al (2011). Performance-Based Financing Experiment Improved Health care in the Democratic Republic of Congo. Health Affairs 30(8):1518-1527. Savedoff W (2010). Basic Economics of Results-Based Financing in Health. Social Insight, June http://bit.ly/p6lmHN.

**** **Results-Based Aid:** Pearson M (2011). Results based aid and results based financing: What are they? Have they delivered results? [Report]. HLSP Institute, January. http://bit.ly/qRxkLK. Isenman P, Wathne C, Baudienville G (2010). Global Funds: Allocation Strategies and Aid Effectiveness [Report]. Overseas Development Institute, July. http://bit.ly/nrxCz5; Oomman N, Rosenzweig S, Bernstein M (2010). Are Funding Decisions Based on Performance? [Report]. Center for Global Development http://bit.ly/qihBS5; Oomman N, Wendt D, Droggitis C (2010). Every Dollar Counts: How Global AIDS Donors Can Better Link Funding Decisions to Performance [Brief]. Center for Global Development, April. http://bit.ly/olf1cs.

Conditional Cash Transfers: Glassman A, Todd J, Gaarder M (2009). Latin America: Cash Transfers to Support Better Household Decisions. Chapter in: Eichler R, Levine R (2009). Performance Incentives for Global Health: Potential and Pitfalls. Center for Global Development, May http://bit.ly/oZ9DqG; Lagarde M, Haines A, Palmer N (2007). Conditional Cash Transfers for Improving Uptake of Health Interventions in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review. Journal of the American Medical Association 298(16):1900-1910, October 24-31; Department for International Development (2011). Cash Transfers: Evidence Paper [Report]. Policy Division. http://bit.ly/rotOFu; Further reading available on the World Bank's Results-Based Financing for health website: www.rbfhealth.org.

vouchers: Ahmed S, Khan MM (2011). A maternal health voucher scheme: what have we learned from the demand-side financing scheme in Bangladesh? *Health Policy and Planning* 26:25–32; Ensor T (2004). Consumer-led demand side financing in health and education and its relevance for low and middle income countries. *International Journal of Health Planning and Management* 19:267–85; Sandiford P, et al (2005). A Guide to Competitive Vouchers in Health. Washington, DC: Private Sector Advisory Unit, World Bank; Further reading available on the World Bank's Results-Based Financing for health website: www.rbfhealth.org.



THE HENRY J. KAISER FAMILY FOUNDATION

Headquarters 2400 Sand Hill Road Menlo Park, CA 94025 Phone 650-854-9400 Fax 650-854-4800

Washington Offices and Barbara Jordan Conference Center 1330 G Street, NW Washington, DC 20005 Phone 202-347-5270 Fax 202-347-5274

www.kff.org

This report (#8247) is available on the Kaiser Family Foundation's website at www.kff.org.

The Kaiser Family Foundation, a leader in health policy analysis, health journalism and communication, is dedicated to filling the need for trusted, independent information on the major health issues facing our nation and its people. The Foundation is a non-profit private operating foundation, based in Menlo Park, California.